



Thematic Report

Promoting quality inclusion in early childhood care and education

Inclusive practices for each and every child

This paper was commissioned by UNESCO for the World Conference on Early Childhood Care and Education. The views and opinions expressed in this paper are those of the author and should not be attributed to UNESCO.

This paper can be cited with the following reference: Soukakou, E., Dionne, C., & Palikara, O. (2024). *Promoting quality inclusion in early childhood care and education: inclusive practices for each and every child* commissioned for the World Conference on Early Childhood Care and Education. © UNESCO 2024

This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/igo).

Authors: Elena Soukakou, Carmen Dionne, and Olympia Palikara



Abstract

The quality of early childhood services relies on the knowledge, expertise and skills of early childhood leaders and practitioners. However, despite this shared recognition, the shortage of a well-prepared workforce across many countries is a major barrier to ensuring quality inclusion. This challenging reality indicates that preparing and supporting a high-quality workforce to promote inclusive experiences for all young children is still a priority.

The aim of this paper is to provide a synthesis of inclusive practices that can be used in Early Childhood Care and Education (ECCE) settings to promote equitable and inclusive learning experiences for all children. The practices are described within five areas: Learning Environments; Instructional Practices; Relationships and Supportive Interactions; Partnerships with Families; and Professional Collaboration. These practices, strongly supported by research evidence, are essential for achieving key goals of inclusion, such as development and learning; a sense of belonging and membership; and development of social interactions and friendships for all children. This paper will describe the practices that can be used in ECCE settings to support children's inclusive learning experiences, and the benefits of using such practices for children, families, and early childhood practitioners. Additionally, this paper will consider the conditions that need to be in place for ensuring the successful implementation of inclusive practices.

The field of implementation science has provided some useful research-based frameworks for understanding the drivers that support the adoption, implementation, and sustainability of evidence-based practices in early childhood. Using an implementation science framework, this paper will consider the drivers for supporting the implementation of inclusive practices in ECCE settings. Examples include building the capacity of the early childhood workforce to apply inclusive practices effectively across various learning environments; supporting leaders and leadership implementation teams in building an inclusive culture within ECCE environments and promoting continuous quality improvement through assessment systems that monitor the application of inclusive practices.

Developing a shared understanding around high-quality inclusive practices and the drivers that support implementation can be an important step towards building consensus around a transnational professional development framework to support the application of quality inclusive practices in ECCE settings. This paper draws from international research evidence on quality inclusive practices at the early childhood level that are essential for ensuring quality inclusive experiences for all children and their families and will consider policy implications for building quality inclusion for all.

Table of contents

<u>Abstract</u>	2
Table of contents	3
Introduction	4
Inclusion in Early Childhood Care and Education	5
Inclusive practices	6
<u>Learning environments</u>	6
Instructional practices	7
Relationships and supportive interactions	7
Partnerships with families	7
Professional collaboration	8
Conditions for successful implementation of inclusive practices	8
Professional development and training	9
<u>Leadership</u>	9
Implications for policy and practice	10
References	12

Introduction

Inclusive early childhood care and education (ECCE) settings are contexts in which young children with diverse learning profiles and characteristics participate and learn together. It is well established that high-quality early services and practices in inclusive settings are beneficial for children, families, early childhood practitioners and communities (e.g. Gardner et al., 2019; Guralnick, 2001; Odom et al., 2011; Strain & Bovey, 2011; Weiland, 2016; Viskovic, 2021). Indeed, in addition to fostering developmental gains for all children, inclusive ECCE settings enable the development of attitudes of respect and openness to diversity that will have lifelong positive impacts for all.

The importance of the early years, and the conditions that need to be in place for every child to develop fully, are highlighted in the Nurturing Care Framework (NCF) for Early Childhood Development launched by the World Health Organization, UNICEF, and the World Bank (2018). This widely agreed upon framework recognizes that the optimal environment is one that allows for the care of the child in conditions that promote good health, adequate nutrition, early learning opportunities, responsive care, and safety and security. Inclusive environments help ensure these conditions by providing opportunities for diverse participation and social interaction.

It is important to recall that education is a right recognized by international conventions and documents, including the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (United Nations, 1948), the UNESCO Convention against Discrimination (UNESCO, 1960), the Convention on the Rights of the Child (United Nations, 1989) and the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (United Nations, 2006). One of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), SDG4, calls for ensuring inclusive and equitable quality education for all and promoting lifelong learning opportunities (United Nations, 2015). For young children, Target 4.2 of this goal recommends that, by 2030, all girls and boys have access to quality early childhood care and development and to pre-school education that prepares them for primary education.

Recently, in response to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on early childhood and the need to scale up actions to achieve the targeted goals, UNESCO and its partners have developed the Global Partnership Strategy for Early Childhood (GPS). The GPS reaffirms the importance of 'leaving no child behind'. Key strategies were developed in the following five areas: (1) evidence for action and rights; (2) data, monitoring and evaluation for accountability; (3) expanding access, inclusion, equity and quality; (4) strengthening policy, governance, financing and advocacy; (5) international and national coordination and cooperation (UNESCO, 2022).

Despite a shared recognition within the field of ECCE that the quality of early childhood services relies on the knowledge, expertise and skills of early childhood practitioners to meet children's diverse learning needs, the shortage of a well-prepared workforce is a major barrier to ensuring quality inclusion in early childhood (Henry & Namhla, 2020; US Department of Health and Human Services and US Department of Education, 2015; Rouse, 2017; World Teachers' Day, 2019). This challenging reality indicates that preparing and supporting a high-quality workforce to promote quality inclusive experiences for all young children is still a priority (National Scientific Council on the Developing Child, 2007; Snyder et al., 2012; Table, 2018).

The aim of this paper is to provide a synthesis of research-based inclusive practices that can be used in ECCE settings to promote equitable and inclusive learning experiences for all children. An additional aim is to consider key drivers that support the implementation of inclusive practices.

Inclusion in Early Childhood Care and Education

While early childhood inclusion is still inconsistently defined and understood, more recent conceptualizations focus on three key dimensions. First, recent definitions focus on the goals of inclusion for all children and their families, including participation; development and learning; a sense of belonging and membership; and development of social interactions and friendships for all children (Barton & Smith, 2015a; DEC/NAEYC, 2009; Guralnick & Bruder, 2016; Koller et al., 2018; Odom et al., 2011; Simplican et al., 2015; Zoniou-Sideri & Nteropoulou-Nterou, 2012). Second, recent conceptualizations recognize that the practices that early childhood practitioners implement are essential to high-quality inclusion. The current focus on the practices in ECCE settings suggests that rather than an issue of placement, successful inclusion relies on the quality of day-to-day practices experienced by children in their engagements with learning activities and social interactions with various adults and peers (DEC/NAEYC, 2009). A third dimension of quality inclusion to be shared across recent conceptualizations is the provision of equitable learning opportunities for all children (NAEYC, 2019; Shaeffer, 2019; Unterhalter, 2019; Zoniou-Sideri & Nteropoulou-Nterou, 2012). Inclusive ECCE environments equitably distribute learning opportunities by ensuring all children experience responsive interactions that: nurture their full range of social, emotional, cognitive, physical, and linguistic abilities; reflect and model fundamental principles of fairness and justice; and help them accomplish the goals of anti-bias education (NAEYC, 2019).

Through quality inclusive practices, early childhood practitioners demonstrate that they value diversity and children's strengths and work to ensure that all children have equitable access to learning given their differences in culture, family structure, language, gender, abilities and disabilities, religious beliefs, or economic class (NAEYC, 2019). Therefore, in this paper, 'inclusive practices' are conceptualized as promoting children's active participation in their ECCE environments while, at the same time, supporting children's diverse learning needs through individualized accommodations and instructional strategies and supports (Soukakou, 2016). According to this premise, high-quality inclusive ECCE practices are equitable practices for each and every child (Brooks et al., 2022).

Inclusive practices

A strong research base supports the benefits of inclusion for children with and without disabilities. Research has shown that effective, evidence-based instructional strategies for children with disabilities can be implemented successfully in inclusive early childhood settings (Grisham-Brown et al., 2009; Strain & Bovey, 2011). All children, including those with the most significant disabilities and the highest learning needs, can make significant developmental and learning progress in inclusive settings. Studies have also shown that for children without disabilities, the benefits of inclusive experiences include positive academic, social, and personal outcomes. Young children who participate and learn together with children presenting with diverse learning profiles, can demonstrate greater compassion and empathy and develop a better understanding of diversity and disability as concepts when peer interactions are adequately supported by classroom teachers (Cross et al., 2004; Diamond & Huang, 2005). Studies have also shown that when practitioners target their services, interventions, and practices to support children's individualized learning needs, all children can benefit, because they learn best through individualized learning experiences. Children in high-quality inclusive early childhood settings also benefit from developmental specialists who can recognize and support their diverse learning profiles in supportive ways (US Department of Health and Human Services, & US Department of Education, 2015).

Early childhood practitioners have a unique opportunity to directly support child development and family well-being through inclusive practices that nurture children's diverse learning needs and family priorities. Over the past 20 years, strong research evidence has been accumulated on the effectiveness of inclusive practices (Barton & Smith, 2015b; Odom et al., 2011; Guralnick & Bruder, 2016; DEC/NAEYC, 2009).

In this section, we present five areas of inclusive practices with research support that can be used in ECCE settings to underpin the diverse learning needs of young children: Learning Environments; Instructional Practices; Relationships and Supportive Interactions; Partnerships with Families; and Professional Collaboration. These areas are described in relation to what they involve and how they might be used in ECCE settings by a wide range of practitioners.

Learning environments

The quality environments in which young children participate with their peers are of critical importance for their development and learning. Early learning environments have often been considered an additional teacher, facilitating the development of a wide range of skills across all key areas of child development, including physical, cognitive, personal, and social-emotional development. Inclusive environments can be considered as not only the physical spaces that are used by children, but also all the materials and equipment that might be used by adults and children. Inclusive ECCE environments promote accessibility of the physical space, materials, and equipment; reflect diverse learning profiles; and are intentionally organized and arranged by practitioners to support children's individualized learning needs and social experiences (Hardy et al., 2021). Universal Design for Learning (UDL) has been put forward as an effective evidence-based framework for designing environments that can be accessible to all children providing equitable opportunities to actively engage with materials and participate in learning activities and routines (Conn-Powers et al., 2006).

Instructional practices

International research has indicated that specialized instruction, interventions, and supports are key components of high-quality inclusion and has identified a wide range of effective instructional practices (National Professional Development Center on Inclusion, 2008; Odom et al., 2011; DEC, 2014; Sandall et al., 2005). Examples of specialized instructional practices used in inclusive settings to support children's participation and learning include naturalistic instructional approaches such as embedded instruction (Horn & Banerjee, 2009), activity-based intervention (Johnson et al., 2015; Özen & Ergenekon, 2011), universal design for learning (Katz & Sokal, 2016), and peer-mediated intervention (Robertson et al., 2003). There has also been growing research support for tiered models of intervention in ECCE settings. Tiered approaches to intervention focus on supporting early childhood practitioners to gather information on children's learning, implement instructional practices, and target specific instructional strategies and interventions to support children's individual learning needs across various areas of development (Odom et al., 2011). Such models of intervention involve implementing high-quality, evidence-based curricula for all children (Tier 1); providing small-group interventions and instruction for those children who need more support (Tier 2); and applying individualized interventions and supports for those children with the highest level of need (Tier 3) (Hemmeter et al., 2016; Prasse et al., 2012). Response to intervention (Buysse & Peisner-Feinberg, 2010), the Pyramid Model (Hemmeter et al., 2016), and Building Blocks (Sandall et al., 2019) are some examples of tiered models of intervention.

Relationships and supportive interactions

Nurturing and responsive relationships are vital for healthy child development and learning. Connecting with young children through responsive interactions is essential for supporting their development. Responsive interactions build on children's interests and respond predictably to their needs. They include listening, observing children and engaging in reciprocal interactions about things that matter to them (Artman-Meeker et al., 2021). In inclusive ECCE settings, practitioners support children's social-emotional development and learning through developmentally appropriate activities and routines, as well as through daily responsive conversations and engagements. A key goal for all children in high-quality early learning environments is the development of social skills and meaningful relationships and friendships with their peers. In high-quality inclusive environments, practitioners create a classroom culture that nurtures and supports the development of meaningful peer interactions through the use of daily planned social activities and routines, the facilitation of social play, as well as through the use of a wide range of research-based instructional supports, such as the use of social stories and supportive strategies (Scattone et al., 2006; Wahman et al., 2022), and the use of peer-mediated support strategies and interventions (DEC, 2014; Soukakou, 2016).

Partnerships with families

The importance of family participation and involvement has been highlighted by related research and policy documents over the past several decades (e.g. Dunst et al., 2007; DEC, 2014; Guralnick, 2020; European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, 2017; European Commission, 2014). Family involvement, engagement and participation is essential for achieving positive developmental and learning outcomes for all children. Exchanging information with families to support their decision-making enhances their capacity to meet children's needs (Dunst & Espe-Sherwindt, 2016). Recognition of the importance of family involvement in supporting a child's development is a prerequisite for this change. Families should be actively involved in all processes related to the assessment of their children's strengths and needs, intervention planning, implementation, and progress monitoring (Bricker et al., 2021). Active family involvement can be promoted and enabled through the use of

appropriate curricula and materials that reflect family diversity and which are respectful of families' environments, resources, routines, and cultures. Close collaboration between early childhood practitioners and families is essential for supporting all children's inclusive experiences. Family-centred practices involve relating to families with dignity and respect (Dunst & Espe-Sherwindt, 2016), using bi-directional communication strategies, recognizing each family and their children as unique, and joint planning for gathering and exchanging information (Wood & Liderman, 2008).

Professional collaboration

Meeting the diversity of children's needs requires the involvement of a wide range of professionals and practitioners (Flottman et al., 2011). Effective professional collaboration can be beneficial both for children and early years practitioners (Anderson & Lindeman, 2017; Hong & Shaffer, 2015; Weglarz-Ward et al., 2020). Paquet et al., (2022) highlighted the importance of communicating in ways that support collaboration (Hart Barenett & O'Shaughnessy, 2015; Flottman et al., 2011), recognizing and sharing responsibilities for inclusion (Mogharreban & Bruns, 2009), providing leadership for collaboration (Bricker et al., 2020; Flottman et al., 2011; Weglarz-Ward et al., 2019), and jointly planning interventions (Weglarz-Ward et al., 2019). Indeed, communication needs to promote information and knowledge-sharing among the various professionals involved, including families. Furthermore, concentrated efforts are needed to plan the objectives and the means to meet children's needs and to achieve them based on the perspective of shared responsibility for actions and results. Additional characteristics of effective collaboration that have been indicated across research include practices such as joint participation in planning, shared philosophies, defined professional roles, stability of relationships, and administrative support (Bricker et al., 2022; Bruder et al., 2019; Odom et al., 2011). Additionally, there is a need for clear accountability in multi-professional collaboration to enable the adoption of common processes across early years settings, which are coordinated and built around meeting all children's needs.

Conditions for successful implementation of inclusive practices

The field of implementation science has provided some useful frameworks for understanding the conditions that support the adoption, implementation, and sustainability of evidence-based practices in early childhood (Fixsen et al., 2005; 2013; Powel et al., 2015). The successful application of effective practices requires the integration of specific systemic supports. Using an implementation science framework, this paper considers the drivers for supporting the implementation of inclusive practices in ECCE settings. Examples include building the capacity of early childhood practitioners to apply inclusive practices effectively across various learning environments; supporting leaders and leadership implementation teams in building an inclusive culture within ECCE environments and promoting continuous quality improvement through assessment systems that monitor the application of inclusive practices (Fixsen & Blase, 2016).

Developing a shared understanding around high-quality inclusive practices and the drivers that support implementation can be an important step towards building a framework for supporting the implementation of quality inclusive practices in ECCE settings. For the fields of early childhood and special education, the work of the National Implementation Research Network in the USA has been key in establishing an understanding of factors influencing the effective implementation of innovative programmes and interventions (Fixsen et al., 2005) and what contributes to achieving desired outcomes for young children and their families. This paper focuses on two drivers that influence the quality of implementation of inclusive practices in ECCE settings: professional development and training; and leadership.

Professional development and training

Professional development and training are identified as key competency drivers for building the knowledge and capacity of early childhood practitioners to apply inclusive practices effectively. Professional development (PD) has been defined as 'facilitated teaching and learning experiences that are transactional and designed to support the acquisition of professional knowledge, skills and dispositions as well as the application of this knowledge in practice' (National Professional Development Center on Inclusion, 2008, p. 3). The importance of initial training and continuing professional development for inclusion has been extensively documented across the early childhood research field (Snyder et al., 2011; Snyder et al., 2012). Research has indicated that early childhood practitioners often report that they are not adequately prepared to support children with diverse learning needs in ECCE settings (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2019). Thus, initial training must be geared toward providing opportunities for early childhood practitioners to generate and apply new knowledge around inclusive practices from the start of professional preparation (Mitter & Putcha, 2018). For this purpose, effective professional development provides opportunities for practitioners to engage with children's experiences in inclusive settings and apply a range of possible solutions to the challenges encountered in supporting children.

A number of rigorous research reviews of in-service, professional development approaches for teachers have identified components that might result in effectively enhancing teachers' knowledge and practice skills (Dunst et al., 2015; Winton et al., 2016). These components include: 1) A focus on practices that are explicitly defined and observable to support fidelity of implementation in educational settings; 2) Job-embedded opportunities for teachers to reflect, implement new practices and receive explicit feedback, such as coaching (Dunst et al., 2015); 3) Provision of information linking improvements of environmental quality or teachers' interactional and instructional practices to student learning outcomes; and 4) Sufficient intensity and duration of the professional development programme to achieve the intended results (Winton et al., 2016).

Leadership

Leadership is a strong driver to support changes and promote quality inclusion in early years settings. Leadership has been found to be a determining factor in supporting the implementation of effective inclusive instructional practices (Rous, 2004). Leadership must be present at different levels of influence (national, regional, and local) (UNESCO, 2021; Bipath et al., 2021). The adoption of national policies that promote diversity and inclusive values supports the implementation of inclusive practices (Ring et al., 2019). These policies define the conditions for ECCE programmes and settings to achieve inclusion by specifying, among other things, the expected roles of facility staff and management. For early childhood settings, these policies help develop a common and shared vision of inclusion in their organization by specifying the educational practices to be implemented, as well as the partnerships and mechanisms for collaboration. In concrete terms, effective leadership can be translated into the time and support provided to practitioners for collaborating with each other and with families. The commitment of early childhood practitioners to adopt inclusive practices contributes to the successful implementation of inclusion. It is well documented that, at the local level, early childhood practitioners are better prepared to implement quality inclusion practices when they are effectively supported by their administration and leadership (Lieber et al., 1997).

Implications for policy and practice

Successful inclusion depends on a combination of multisectoral and intersectoral actions made by policy-makers, practitioners, and families. When considering the conditions that support effective implementation, some implementation drivers are well studied and understood while others are still to be examined. Among the key drivers put forward by related research evidence-base and policy is personnel preparation.

With regard to initial training, an important goal involves delineating the knowledge and skills that early childhood practitioners need to develop in order to support children's diverse needs, as well as considering how to acquire them. By reaching consensus on the competencies and practices that practitioners need to implement to support quality inclusion across ECCE settings, different countries pave the way for building a better prepared early childhood workforce. Towards this goal, countries will benefit from developing a comprehensive, coordinated early childhood professional development (PD) system that will support early childhood practitioners in implementing inclusive practices. Within a coordinated system, local and national personnel standards and competencies of the early childhood workforce are aligned with recommended inclusive practices to ensure the most successful outcomes for young children with disabilities and their families (Guralnick & Bruder, 2016). Developing a shared knowledge and competency base across levels of professional preparation, including pre-service and inservice personnel preparation, across personnel standards and practices, and across the range of childserving providers, is essential for ensuring the successful implementation of inclusive practices. Moreover, an effective, integrated PD system is based on coordination of the various disciplines and sectors responsible for preparing and supporting the range of practitioners implementing inclusive services and practices in ECCE settings. Participation and collaboration between all professionals who support inclusive practices in ECCE settings (early childhood practitioners, inclusion specialists, professional development providers, setting administrators, and families), is essential for ensuring successful implementation of quality inclusive services and practices.

While initial education and continuous professional development are essential components of quality inclusion, they are not sufficient for ensuring that inclusive practices are implemented effectively. In line with implementation science, it is important to develop a monitoring assessment system to evaluate the quality of inclusive practices that are being implemented across ECCE settings and use procedures for supporting continuous quality improvement efforts. An effective quality assessment and improvement framework for inclusion in early childhood includes a system for gathering data on the quality of practices that are being implemented in inclusive ECCE settings, as well as a system for monitoring the impact of quality improvement efforts (e.g. professional learning programmes) on the practices that are being used in ECCE settings.

Another key determining factor for supporting the implementation of inclusion in early childhood is the development of effective teaming and collaboration practices through strong partnerships with families and early childhood professionals. Strong partnerships with families that involve family-centred practices enable early years practitioners to plan more effectively all aspects of children's personalized learning and help them engage with families in supporting their children's development across different learning environments.

Effective multi-professional collaboration is also of crucial importance for supporting the implementation of quality inclusion in ECCE. Toward this goal, it is imperative that multi-agency professional collaboration moves beyond information sharing to coordinated integrated activities that promote continuity and consistency of levels of service provision across ECCE settings.

Creating inclusive and equitable learning experiences for all children in ECCE settings and their communities is a key goal for international efforts aimed at ensuring high quality education and learning opportunities for all young children. As we centre our efforts toward expanding access to high-quality early childhood education for all, it is critical that inclusion becomes a defining feature of quality early childhood education. The vision presented in this paper, that all children require inclusive and equitable practices and experiences in ECCE settings and communities, requires effective models of professional preparation and ongoing professional development. It also requires committed local and national leadership; a shared commitment and collaboration between local authorities; and strong partnerships with families, ECCE settings, local communities, and government at all levels. Toward this goal, policies at all levels must be adopted and aligned with research-based inclusive practices. Clear positioning at the national and regional levels is necessary, as well as in the early childhood education community. A guarantee of the sustainability of these policies lies in the involvement of the relevant actors from the beginning of their development. These policies must also be intersectoral and part of a social project of equity, recognizing that diversity is an opportunity for quality education for all.

References

- Anderson, E. M., & Lindeman, K. W. 2017. Inclusive prekindergarten classrooms in a new era: Exploring the perspectives of teachers in the United States. *School Community Journal*, 27(2), 121-143.
- Artman-Meeker, K., Hunter, A., & Yates, T. 2021. Creating connections with children. In M. L. Hemmeter, M. M. Ostrosky, & L. Fox (Eds.), *Unpacking the Pyramid Model*. (pp. 7-16). Baltimore MD: Brookes Publishing.
- Barton, E. E., & Smith, B. J. 2015a. The pre-school inclusion toolbox. How to build and lead a high-quality. Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing.
- ____. 2015b). Advancing high-quality preschool inclusion: a discussion and recommendations for the field. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 35(2), 69-78. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121415583048
- Bipath, K., Tebekana, J., & Venketsamy, R. 2021. Leadership in implementing inclusive education policy in early childhood education and care playrooms in South Africa. *Education Sciences*, 11(12), 815.
- Bricker, D., Dionne, C., Grisham, J., Johnson, J. J., Macy, M., Slentz, K. L., & Waddell, M. 2021.

 Assessment, evaluation, and programming system for infants and young children. Third edition (AEPS®-3). Baltimore MD: Brookes Publishing.
- Bricker, D. D., Felimban, H. S., Lin, F. Y., Stegenga, S. M., & O'Malley Sorie, S. 2020. A proposed framework for enhancing collaboration in early intervention/early childhood special education. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0271121419890683
- Brooks, J. L., Gayl, C. L., & Wernstedt-Lynch, C. 2022. Measuring the Quality of Early Learning Environments: A guide to evaluating ideal learning environments for young children. Washington, DC: Trust for Learning.
- Bruder, M. B., Catalino, T., Chiarello, L. A., Mitchell, M. C., Deppe, J., Gundler, D., Kemp, P., LeMoine, S., Long, T., Muhlenhaupt, M., & Prelock, P. 2019. Finding a common lens: Competencies across professional disciplines providing early childhood intervention. *Infants & Young Children*, 32(4), 280-293.
- Buysse, V., & Peisner-Feinberg, E. 2010. Recognition & response: Response to intervention for Prek. *Young Exceptional Children*, 13(4), 2-13.
- Conn-Powers, M., Cross, A. F., Traub, E. K., & Hutter-Pishgahi, L. 2006. The universal design of early education: Moving forward for all children. Beyond the Journal: Young Children on the Web. https://docplayer.net/15653227-The-universal-design-of-early-education-moving-forward-for-all-children.html
- Cross, A. F., Traub, E. K., Hutter-Pishgahi, L., & Shelton, G. 2004. Elements of successful inclusion for children with significant disabilities. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 24(3), 169-183.
- Division for Early Childhood/ National Association for the Education of Young Children (DEC/NAEYC).

 2009. Early childhood inclusion: A joint position statement of the Division for Early Childhood (DEC) and the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC). Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina, FPG Child Development Institute.

- Diamond, K. E., & Huang, H.-H. 2005. Preschoolers' ideas about disabilities. *Infants & Young Children*, 18, 37-46.
- Division for Early Childhood (DEC). 2014. DEC recommended practices. http://www.dec-sped.org/Recommendedpractices
- Dunst, C. J., Bruder, M. B., & Hamby, D. W. 2015. Metasynthesis of in-service professional development research: Features associated with positive educator and student outcomes. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 10(12), 1731-1744.
- Dunst, C. J., & Espe-Sherwindt, M. 2016. Family-centered practices in early childhood intervention. In B. Reichow, B. A. Boyd, E. E. Barton, & S. L. Odom (Eds.), Handbook of early childhood special education (pp. 37-55). Basel, Switzerland: Springer International.
- Dunst, C. J., Trivette, C. M., & Hamby, D. W. 2007. Meta-analysis of family-centered helpgiving practices research. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 13(4), 370-378.
- European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education. 2017). Inclusive early childhood education: Literature review. F. Bellour, P. Bartolo, & M. Kyriazopoulou, (dir. publ). Odense, Denmark.
- European Commission. 2014. Proposal for key principles of a quality framework for early childhood education and care. Report of the Working group on early childhood education and care under the auspices of the https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/education/policy/strategic-framework/archive/documents/ececquality-framework_en.pdf
 - Fixsen, D., & Blase K. 2016. Active Implementation Science and Practice. The National Implementation Research Network. https://nirn.fpg.unc.edu/sites/nirn.fpg.unc.edu/files/resources/NIRN-Briefs-1-ActiveImplementationPracticeAndScience-10-07-2016.pdf
- Fixsen, D., Blase, K., Metz, A., & VanDyke, M. 2013. Statewide implementation of evidence-based practices. *Exceptional Children*, 79(2), 213–230.
- Fixsen, D. L., Naoom, S. F., Blase, K. A., Friedman, R. M., Wallace, F., Burns, B., ... & Shern, D. 2005.

 Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature. University of South Florida, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, The National Implementation Research Network.
- Flottman, R., McKernan, A., & Tayler, C. 2011. Practice principle 2: Partnerships with professionals.

 Victorian Early Years Learning and Development Framework. Melbourne Graduate School of Education.
- Gardner, M., Melnick, H., Meloy, B., & Barajas, J. 2019. Promising Models for Preparing a Diverse, High-Quality Early Childhood Workforce. Learning Policy Institute.
- Grisham-Brown, J., Pretti-Frontczak, K., Hawkins, S., & Winchell, B. 2009. Addressing early learning standards for all children within blended preschool classrooms. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 29(3), 131-142.
- Guralnick, M. J. 2001. A developmental systems model for early intervention. *Infants and Young children*, 14(2), 1-18.
- ____. 2020. Applying the developmental systems approach to inclusive community-based early intervention programs: Process and practice. *Infants & Young Children*, 33(3), 173-183.

- Guralnick, M. J., & Bruder, M. B. 2016. Early childhood inclusion in the United States: Goals, current status and future directions. *Infants & Young Children*, 29(3), 166-177. https://doi.org/10.1097/IYC.000000000000071Hardy, J. K, Milagros Santos, R., & Doubet, S. L. 2021). Creating classroom environments that support young children. In M. L. Hemmeter, M. M. Ostrosky, & L. Fox (Eds.). Unpacking the Pyramid Model. Baltimore MD: Brookes Publishing.
- Hart Barnett, J. E., & O'shaughnessy, K. 2015. Enhancing collaboration between occupational therapists and early childhood educators working with children on the autism spectrum. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 43(6), 467-472.
- Hemmeter, M. L., Fox, L., & Hardy, J. K. 2016. Supporting the implementation of tiered models of behavior support in early childhood settings. In Handbook of early childhood special education (pp. 247-265). Springer, Cham.
- Henry, C., & Namhla, S. (2020). Continuous professional development for inclusive ECD teachers in Chiredzi Zimbabwe: Challenges and opportunities, Scientific African, 8, e00270.
- Hong, S. B., & Shaffer, L. S. 2015. Inter-professional collaboration: Early childhood educators and medical therapist working within a collaboration. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 3(1), 135-145.
- Horn, E., & Banerjee, R. 2009. Understanding curriculum modifications and embedded learning opportunities in the context of supporting all children's success. *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 40(4), 406-415.
- Johnson, J. J., Rahn, N. L., & Bricker, D. 2015. An activity-based approach to early intervention. (4th ed.). Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing.
- Katz, J., & Sokal, L. 2016. Universal design for learning as a bridge to inclusion: A qualitative report of student voices. *International Journal of Whole Schooling*, 12(2), 36-63.
- Koller, D., Pouesard, M. L., & Rummens, J. A. 2018. Defining social inclusion for children with disabilities: A critical literature review. *Children & Society*, 32(1), 1-13.
- Lieber, J., Beckman, P.J., Hanson, M. J., Janko, S., Marquart, J. M., Horn, E., & Odom, S. L. 1997. The impact of changing roles on relationships between professionals in inclusive programs for young children. *Early Education and Development*, 8(1), 67-82.
- Mitter, R., & Putcha, V. 2018. Strengthening and supporting the early childhood workforce: training and professional development. Washington, DC.: Results for Development.
- Mogharreban, C. C., & Bruns, D. A. 2009. Moving to inclusive pre-kindergarten classrooms: Lessons from the field. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 36(5), 407-414.
- National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC). 2019. Advancing equity in early childhood education. Position statement.

 https://www.naeyc.org/sites/default/files/globallyshared/downloads/PDFs/resources/position-statements/advancingequitypositionstatement.pdf
- National Professional Development Center on Inclusion. 2008. What do we mean by professional development in the early childhood field? Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina, FPG Child Development Institute, Author.
- National Scientific Council on the Developing Child. 2007. The science of early childhood development. http://www.developingchild.net.

- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). 2019. Providing quality early childhood education and care: Results from the starting strong survey 2018. TALIS, OECD Publishing: Paris.
- Odom, S. L., Buysse, V., & Soukakou, E. 2011. Inclusion for young children with disabilities: A quarter century of research perspectives. Journal of Early Intervention, 33(4), 344-356.
- Ozen, A., & Ergenekon, Y. 2011. Activity-Based Intervention practices in special education. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 11(1), 359-362.
- Paquet, A., Dionne, C., Arias Beccera, N. J., & Bouchard, S. 2022, May, 12. Collaborer pour mieux soutenir les enfants en milieux de garde inclusifs [Conference session] 89e congrès de l'ACFAS L'inclusion dès la petite enfance, événement en ligne.
- Powell, B. J., Waltz, T. J., Chinman, M. J. Damschroder L.J., Smith, J.L., Matthieu, M.M., Proctor, E. K., & Kirchner, J. E. 2015. A refined compilation of implementation strategies: results from the Expert Recommendations for Implementing Change (ERIC) project. *Implementation Science*, 10, 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-015-0209-1.
- Prasse, D. P., Breunlin, R. J., Giroux, D., Hunt, J., Morrison, D., & Thier, K. 2012. Embedding multi-tiered system of supports/Response to Intervention into teacher preparation. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, 10(2), 75-93.
- Ring, E., & O'Sullivan, L. 2019. Creating spaces where diversity is the norm: An innovative competency-based blended learning teacher education program in Ireland. *Childhood Education*, 95(2), 29-39.
- Robertson, J., Green, K., Alper, S., Schloss, P. J., & Kohler, F. 2003. Using a peer-mediated intervention to facilitate children's participation in inclusive childcare activities. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 182-197.
- Rous, B. 2004. Perspectives of teachers about instructional supervision and behaviors that influence preschool instruction. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 26(4), 266-83.
- Rouse, M. (2017). A role for teachers and teacher education in developing inclusive practice. What teachers need to know: Topics in diversity and inclusion, 19-35.
- Sandall, S., Hemmeter, M. L., Smith, B. J., & McLean, M. E. 2005. DEC recommended practices: A comprehensive guide for practical application in early intervention/early childhood special education. Division for early childhood (DEC).
- Sandall, S. R., Schwartz, I. S., Joseph, G. E., & Gauvreau, A. N. 2019. Building blocks for preschoolers with special needs (3rd ed.). Baltimore MD: Brookes Publishing.
- Scattone, D., Tingstrom, D. H., & Wilczynski, S. M. 2006. Increasing appropriate social interactions of children with Autism Spectrum Disorders using Social StoriesTM. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 21(4), 211-222. https://doi.org/10.1177/10883576060210040201.
- Shaeffer, S. 2019. Inclusive education: A prerequisite for equity and social justice. *Asia Pacific Education Review*, 20(2), 181-192.
- Simplican, S. C., Leader, G., Kosciulek, J., & Leahy, M. 2015. Defining social inclusion of people with intellectual and developmental disabilities: An ecological model of social networks and community participation. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 38, 18-29.

- Snyder, P., Hemmeter, M. L., & McLaughlin, T. 2011. Professional development in early childhood intervention: Where we stand on the 25th anniversary of P.L. 99-457 [Special issue in honor of the 25th anniversary of IDEA's early childhood programs]. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 33, 357-370.
- Snyder, P., Hemmeter, M. L., Meeker, K. A., Kinder, K., Pasia, C., & McLaughlin, T. 2012. Characterizing key features of the early childhood professional development literature. *Infants & Young Children*, 25(3), 188-212.
- Soukakou, E. P. 2016. Inclusive Classroom Profile (ICP™) manual: Research edition. Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing.
- Strain, P. S., & Bovey, E. H. 2011. Randomized, controlled trial of the LEAP model of early intervention for young children with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 31(3), 133-154.
- Table, C. T. 2018). Providing Quality Early Childhood Education and Care Results from the Starting Strong Survey 2018. OECD.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services., & U.S. Department of Education. 2015. Policy statement on inclusion of children with disabilities in early childhood programs. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/joint-statement-full-text.pdf
- UNESCO, 1960. Convention against Discrimination in education. Paris.
 https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000188526

 ____. 2021. Inclusive early childhood care and education: from commitment to action.
 https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000378065

 ____. 2022. Global Partnership Strategy for Early Childhood 2021-2030. Paris.
 https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000380077

 United Nations, 1948. Universal declaration of human rights. Geneva.
 ____. 1989. Convention on the Rights of the Child. Geneva.
 ____. 2006. Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities. Geneva.
 ____. 2015. Transforming Our World, the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. General Assembly Resolution A/RES/70/1. In: Seventieth United Nations General Assembly, New York, 25
- Unterhalter, E. 2019. The many meanings of quality education: Politics of targets and indicators in SDG 4. *Global Policy*, 10, 39-51.
- Viskovic, I. 2021. Inclusive pedagogical practice as a predictor of quality early childhood education. *European Journal of Educational Research*, 10(4), 1711-1725.

September 2015.

- Wahman, C. L., Pustejovsky, J. E., Ostrosky, M. M., & Santos, R. M. 2022. Examining the effects of Social Stories™ on challenging behavior and prosocial skills in young children: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 41(4), 267-279.
- Weglarz-Ward, J. M., Santos, R. M., & Hayslip, L. A. 2020. How professionals collaborate to support infants and toddlers with disabilities in child care. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 48(5), 643-655.

- Weglarz-Ward, J. M., Santos, R. M., & Timmer, J. 2019. Factors that support and hinder including infants with disabilities in child care. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 47(2), 163-173.
- Weiland, C. 2016. Impacts of the Boston prekindergarten program on the school readiness of young children with special needs. *Developmental Psychology*, 52(11), 1763-1776
- Winton, P., Snyder, P., & Goffin, S. 2016. Beyond the status quo: Rethinking professional development for early childhood teachers. In L. Couse & S. Recchia (Eds.), Handbook of early childhood teacher education (pp. 54-68). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Woods, J. J., & Lindeman, D. P. 2008. Gathering and giving information with families. *Infants & Young Children*, 21(4), 272-284. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.IYC.0000336540.60250.f2
- World Health Organization., UNICEF., & World Bank. 2018. Nurturing care for early childhood development a framework for helping children survive and thrive to transform health and human potential. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/272603/9789241514064-eng.pdf
- World Teachers Day 2019: Fact Sheet. 2019. International Task Force on Teachers for Education 2030. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000370921
- Zoniou-Sideri, A., & Nteropoulou-Nterou, E. 2012. Looking for the educational policy of inclusion. In A. Zoniou-Sideris, E. Nteropoulou-Nterou, & A. Vlachou-Balafouti (Eds.), Disability and educational policy. A critical approach to special and inclusion education (pp. 11-27). Athens: Pedio [in Greek]

UNESCO – a global leader in education

Education is UNESCO's top priority because it is a basic human right and the foundation for peace and sustainable development. UNESCO is the United Nations' specialized agency for education, providing global and regional leadership to drive progress, strengthening the resilience and capacity of national systems to serve all learners. UNESCO also leads efforts to respond to contemporary global challenges through transformative learning, with special focus on gender equality and Africa across all actions.



The Global Education 2030 Agenda

UNESCO, as the United Nations' specialized agency for education, is entrusted to lead and coordinate the Education 2030 Agenda, which is part of a global movement to eradicate poverty through 17 Sustainable Development Goals by 2030. Education, essential to achieve all of these goals, has its own dedicated Goal 4, which aims to "ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all." The Education 2030 Framework for Action provides guidance for the implementation of this ambitious goal and commitments.



Stay in touch



ecce@unesco.org



on.unesco.org/wcecce

Follow @UNESCO on social media











